

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE: CAPACITY BUILDING ON RESERVES

Report of the Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs

Honourable MaryAnn Mihychuk, Chair



JUNE 2019 42nd PARLIAMENT, 1st SESSION Published under the authority of the Speaker of the House of Commons

SPEAKER'S PERMISSION

The proceedings of the House of Commons and its Committees are hereby made available to provide greater public access. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of the House of Commons and its Committees is nonetheless reserved. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons and its Committees, in whole or in part and in any medium, is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accurate and is not presented as official. This permission does not extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this permission or without authorization may be treated as copyright infringement in accordance with the *Copyright Act*. Authorization may be obtained on written application to the Office of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not constitute publication under the authority of the House of Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceedings of the House of Commons does not extend to these permitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs to a Standing Committee of the House of Commons, authorization for reproduction may be required from the authors in accordance with the *Copyright Act*.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of Commons and its Committees. For greater certainty, this permission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a reproduction or use is not in accordance with this permission.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the following address: www.ourcommons.ca

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE: CAPACITY BUILDING ON RESERVES

Report of the Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs

Hon. MaryAnn Mihychuk Chair

JUNE 2019
42nd PARLIAMENT, 1st SESSION

NOTICE TO DEADED
NOTICE TO READER Reports from committee presented to the House of Commons
Presenting a report to the House is the way a committee makes public its findings and recommendations on a particular topic. Substantive reports on a subject-matter study usually contain a synopsis of the testimony heard, the recommendations made by the committee, as well as the reasons for those recommendations.

STANDING COMMITTEE ON INDIGENOUS AND NORTHERN AFFAIRS

CHAIR

Hon. MaryAnn Mihychuk

VICE-CHAIRS

Cathy McLeod Rachel Blaney

MEMBERS

William Amos

Mike Bossio

T.J. Harvey

Yvonne Jones (Parliamentary Secretary — Non-Voting Member)

Marc Miller (Parliamentary Secretary — Non-Voting Member)

Yves Robillard

Don Rusnak

Dan Vandal (Parliamentary Secretary — Non-Voting Member)

Arnold Viersen

Kevin Waugh

OTHER MEMBERS OF PARLIAMENT WHO PARTICIPATED

Ramez Ayoub

Hon. Steven Blaney

Pierre Breton

Terry Duguid

Kerry Diotte

Jim Eglinski

Richard Hébert

Gordie Hogg

Georgina Jolibois

Jenny Kwan

Linda Lapointe

Richard Martel

Rémi Massé

Phil McColeman

Blake Richards

Ruby Sahota

Len Webber

CLERK OF THE COMMITTEE

Leif-Erik Aune

LIBRARY OF PARLIAMENT

Parliamentary Information and Research Service

Isabelle Brideau, Analyst

Olivier Leblanc-Laurendeau, Analyst

THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON INDIGENOUS AND NORTHERN AFFAIRS

has the honour to present its

TWENTY-SECOND REPORT

Pursuant to its mandate under Standing Order 108(2), the Committee has studied community capacity building and retention of talent and has agreed to report the following:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE: CAPACITY BUILDING ON RESERVES	1
Introduction	1
Capacity Building and Talent Retention	2
Capacity Building	2
Governance	4
Land Management	6
Indigenous Organizations	8
Employment Training	9
Education	11
a) Funding	11
b) Challenges and Promising Initiatives	12
c) Indigenous Languages	14
d) Federal Programming	14
Health Care	14
Data Collection and Management and Connectivity	16
Talent Retention	18
APPENDIX A LIST OF WITNESSES	21
APPENDIX B LIST OF BRIEFS	25
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS	27



SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE: CAPACITY BUILDING ON RESERVES

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, Canada committed to implementing the *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples* (UNDRIP). Among other things, UNDRIP recognizes that "Indigenous peoples have the right to self-determination" and that, "[b]y virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development" (article 3).¹ UNDRIP further recognizes that, through their right to self-determination, "Indigenous peoples... have the right to autonomy or self-government in matters relating to their internal and local affairs, as well as ways and means for financing their autonomous functions" (article 4).²

For decades, First Nations have been working towards achieving their visions of self-determination, notably by empowering their communities and institutions, and by rebuilding the governance structures that colonial policies attempted to break down and erase. On the path to restoring their autonomy, First Nations are faced with barriers to building capacity and retaining talents in their communities. Overcoming these barriers is key to moving toward self-determination.

In order to advise the federal government on how it can better support First Nations communities and find ways to address the barriers they face with respect to capacity building and talent retention, the House of Commons Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs (the Committee) agreed in February 2018 to "undertake a comprehensive study of community capacity building and retention of talent in the delivery of essential services on reserve" and to report its findings to the House. From February to April 2019, the Committee held a total of nine public hearings and heard from 50 witnesses, including First Nations communities, organizations and tribal councils. The Committee sincerely thanks all the individuals and groups who took part in this study.

General Assembly of the United Nations, <u>Resolution 61/295: United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples</u>, 2 October 2007.

² Ibid.

House of Commons, Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs [INAN], 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Minutes of Proceedings*, 1 February 2018.



As has been the case in previous studies undertaken by the Committee, witnesses stressed the uniqueness of each First Nation and that a one-size-fits-all approach to capacity building will not work. Solutions must be community-driven and tailored to the unique needs of individual First Nations.⁴ As such, the Committee was told, in supporting capacity building and talent retention, federal programming should "remain flexible and responsive to the individual needs of First Nations. The federal government should not impose a single approach or federal capacity targets."⁵

This report summarizes the evidence gathered during this study. It should not, however, be construed as a comprehensive analysis of capacity building and talent retention in First Nations communities. This subject is an important one and a lot of work still needs to be done to address the barriers that impede the social, economic and political development of these communities. Limited by time, the Committee presents this summary of evidence in the hope that it will help guide future studies by parliamentary committees. Moreover, the Committee encourages anyone wanting to learn more about this subject to visit its Website and consult the complete transcripts of its public hearings.⁶

CAPACITY BUILDING AND TALENT RETENTION

Undeniably, some First Nations face significant barriers in terms of building or strengthening capacity and retaining professionals in their communities. The two issues are linked, as communities need trained and skilled professionals to develop their collective capacity; at the same time, they need some level of capacity and resources to be able to train, retain and attract these professionals.

Capacity Building

Grand Chief Arlen Dumas of the Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs explained that, "today, community capacity building often refers to strengthening the skills, competencies and abilities of people and communities so that they can achieve their goals and potentially

INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 19 March 2019, 0945 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty, Director, National Aboriginal Lands Managers Association); 1000 (Dr. Roger Strasser, Dean and Chief Executive Officer, Northern Ontario School of Medicine); 1040 (Ms. Jessie Hemphill, Partner and Senior Planner, Alderhill Planning Inc.); <u>Evidence</u>, 4 April 2019, 0855 (Mr. Bob Watts, Vice-President, Indigenous Relations, Nuclear Waste Management Organization).

⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 26 February 2019, 1010 (Dr. Daniel Millette, Director, Planning and Readiness, First Nations Land Management Resource Centre).

⁶ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Communities Capacity Building and Retention of Talent</u>.

overcome the causes of their exclusion and suffering." According to him, federal programming for First Nations has historically been developed without taking "into account the history, the geography and the existing capacity in the community." As such, he suggested moving away from paternalistic assumptions and towards an approach of "capacity enhancing" whereby people work to improve and strengthen the capacity that already exists within communities.

During this study, witnesses identified the need to build or enhance capacity in specific areas, including governance, land management, Indigenous organizations, employment training, education, health, and data collection and management. The Committee also heard from several federal departments and agencies about the programs they offer to support capacity building in First Nations communities.

"Today, community capacity building often refers to strengthening the skills, competencies and abilities of people and communities so that they can achieve their goals and potentially overcome the causes of their exclusion and suffering."

However, Jerome Berthelette of the Office of the Auditor General of Canada

(OAG) told the Committee that "decades of audits indicate that the results of the programs for Indigenous peoples have been unacceptable." Most recently, in spring 2018, the OAG conducted an audit of education programming for First Nations on reserves and another on employment training programs for Indigenous peoples. According to Mr. Berthelette, OAG audits have identified four sets of structural barriers impeding federal programs aimed at improving socio-economic outcomes in First Nations communities:

⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 4 April 2019, 0950 (Grand Chief Arlen Dumas, Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs).

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0945 (Mr. Jerome Berthelette, Assistant Auditor General, Performance Audit, Office of the Auditor General).

Office of the Auditor General of Canada (OAG), "Report 5—Socio-economic Gaps on First Nations
Reserves—Indigenous Services Canada," 2018 Spring Reports of the Auditor General of Canada to the Parliament of Canada, 2018.

¹² OAG, "Report 6—Employment Training for Indigenous People—Employment and Social Development Canada," 2018 Spring Reports of the Auditor General of Canada to the Parliament of Canada, 2018.



- the lack of clarity about service levels;
- the lack of a legislative base for services;
- the lack of appropriate funding; and
- the lack of organizations to support local service delivery.¹³

Grand Chief Dumas similarly criticized the lack of secure, stable funding and the absence of a legal framework for essential services on reserve. In his view, this situation "leaves First Nations vulnerable to arbitrary and sudden changes in policies." Howard Grant, Executive Director of the First Nations Summit Society, added that funding arrangements for federal programming are problematic: negotiated on an annual, proposal-driven basis, they do not allow for strategic and long-term planning. Without addressing these structural barriers, "it will be hard to retain staffing and enhance capacity at the community level to create long-lasting changes in the socio-economic status of [First Nations] communities."

What the Committee heard from federal departments and agencies indicates a willingness to shift away from past practices and address these structural impediments. Notably, departments and agencies are becoming increasingly aware of the importance of recognizing First Nations' right to self-determination and autonomy. For instance, Indigenous Services Canada's "vision is to support and empower Indigenous peoples to independently deliver services and address the socio-economic conditions in their communities." The department's objective is to gradually transfer service design, delivery and management to Indigenous communities and organizations over time. 18

Governance

The notion of self-determination—a people's fundamental right to determine its own way forward—was a recurring theme during the Committee's hearings. Albert Marshall Jr., Director of the National Aboriginal Lands Managers Association, said that in light of

¹³ Ibid.

¹⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 4 April 2019, 0950 (Grand Chief Arlen Dumas).

¹⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 2 April 2019, 0930 (Mr. Howard Grant, Executive Director, First Nations Summit Society).

¹⁶ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 4 April 2019, 1000 (Grand Chief Arlen Dumas).

¹⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0845 (Mr. Keith Conn).

¹⁸ Indigenous Services Canada, <u>Departmental Plan 2019-20</u>, 2019, p. 25.

Canada's commitment to building new relationships with Indigenous peoples, "it is imperative for the Canadian government to recognize and support the needs and to contribute to First Nation success in reaching greater autonomy." ¹⁹

For his part, Louis Harper, Senior Legal Counsel at the First Nations Health and Social Secretariat of Manitoba, referred to self-government "as a basis for improved and effective delivery of services in [First Nations] communities." According to him, improved and effective service delivery depends on a process of nation rebuilding whereby First Nations would "identify culturally appropriate governance structures, systems and service delivery." Additionally, this process would rely on the identification of a land base as part of self-government agreements to help generate own-source revenues supplementing federal transfers.²²

With respect to governance, a promising practice that accounts for the uniqueness of each First Nation and emphasizes community needs is comprehensive community planning.²³ Federal officials described this type of planning as "a holistic community-led process that enables a community to build a road map to sustainability, self-sufficiency and improved governance."²⁴ Developing a comprehensive community plan (CCP) is a grassroots initiative that allows

"As part of this relationshipbuilding process, it is imperative for the Canadian government to recognize and support the needs and to contribute to First Nation success in reaching greater autonomy."

community members to plan for their collective future, based on their own needs and aspirations. A CCP generally highlights a community's history and context, its collective vision and its goals and objectives. This approach began with First Nations in British

¹⁹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0855 (Mr. Albert Marshall Jr., Director, National Aboriginal Lands Managers Association).

²⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 21 February 2019, 1005 (Mr. Louis Harper, Senior Legal Counsel, First Nations Health and Social Secretariat of Manitoba).

²¹ Ibid.

²² Ibid.

²³ Ms. Jessie Hemphill provided the following website as a resource for more information on that style of planning: comprehensivecommunityplanning.org.

²⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0850 (Ms. Claudia Ferland, Director General, Regional Infrastructure Branch, Regional Operations Sector, Department of Indigenous Services Canada).



Columbia around the mid-2000s and is now being adopted and adapted across the country.

Jessie Hemphill, Partner and Senior Planner at Alderhill Planning Inc., described comprehensive community planning as "one of the keys to building up capacity."²⁵ Ms. Hemphill also stated that, just like the communities that develop and implement them, CCPs are unique.²⁶ According to her, "You could almost compare it to official community planning for local government but the scope is even broader than that."²⁷ Right now 147 First Nations have completed plans, meaning that most communities do not have one.

Land Management

Land management was another important theme explored by Dr. Daniel Millette, Director of Planning and Readiness at the First Nations Land Management Resource Centre, and by Mr. Marshall Jr. and his colleague Theodore Johnny Merasty. Dr. Millette explained that his organization "recognizes the inherent right of First Nations to govern their lands, environment and resources according to their own laws." However, exercising this right is complicated by the fact that First Nations manage their lands under one of three significantly different regimes:

- 1) The *Indian Act* regime, which applies by default to First Nations;
- 2) The First Nations Land Management Act (FNLMA) regime, which allows participating First Nations to opt out of 40 sections of the Indian Act, and to develop and implement their own land codes and laws with respect to land use, environment and natural resources;
- 3) Self-government agreements, which may include provisions with respect to land management.²⁹

²⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0950 (Ms. Jessie Hemphill).

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ Ibid.

²⁸ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 1010 (Dr. Daniel Millette).

²⁹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0850 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty).

Chief Darcy Bear of the Whitecap Dakota First Nation explained that "the *Indian Act* was never created for [First Nations] to be part of the economy" and instead restrained opportunities available to them. In his view, being part of the FNLMA regime has "enabled [his] community to... not just self-govern [their] lands but also do the land planning, zoning, development standards, getting [their] lands ready for economic

development."³¹ Notably, Chief Bear stated that being part of the FNLMA regime contributed to lowering his First Nation's unemployment rate from 70% to 5% by opening the doors to new business opportunities.³²

Mr. Marshall Jr. also explained that managing First Nations lands "requires specialized knowledge and skills" and that it "can be very challenging and overwhelming for staff who do not have sufficient support and training." According to Dr. Millette, "[t]he contemporary resumption of Indigenous land governance frameworks by First

"The contemporary resumption of Indigenous land governance frameworks by First Nations following a hundred years of imposed *Indian Act* rule can be a complicated and timeconsuming effort. This process is considered an act of decolonization, First Nation by First Nation."

Nations following a hundred years of imposed *Indian Act* rule can be a complicated and time-consuming effort. This process is considered an act of decolonization, First Nation by First Nation."³⁴ As such, witnesses recommended that the federal government increase funding for land management programs to ensure that communities are able to fund an adequate number of land manager positions and that these positions are provided with sufficient support.³⁵

³⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 0920 (Chief Darcy M. Bear, Whitecap Dakota First Nation).

³¹ Ibid.

³² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 0845 (Chief Darcy M. Bear).

³³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0855 (Mr. Albert Marshall Jr.).

³⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, Evidence, 26 February 2019, 1010 (Dr. Daniel Millette).

³⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0900 (Mr. Albert Marshall Jr.); 0915 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty).



Indigenous Organizations

Witnesses identified tribal councils and other Indigenous organizations as important actors for assisting with capacity building due to their knowledge of communities' needs. Another argument made in favour of such organizations was the fact that they provide opportunities for economies of scale and partnerships.

Norm Odjick, Director General of the Algonquin Anishinabeg Nation Tribal Council, highlighted the opportunities afforded by tribal councils: "When the tribal council provides the training, it's a huge help to communities... We are like a team of

"No one can ever speak for anybody's community, other than the community itself."

experts they can turn to because it's impossible to have experts in each community."³⁶ As such, Mr. Odjick suggested increasing funding to tribal councils, noting that they struggle to fulfil their mandate of assisting communities and advising them on how to increase their capacity.³⁷ Cuts to the Tribal Council Funding Program and the imposition in the 1990s of a 2% funding cap on community programming have limited what tribal councils are able to do: "Our purchasing power is diminished on an annual basis, yet we are asked and expected to do more and more."³⁸

Grand Chief Dumas also stressed the important role of regional organizations with respect to local capacity building, stating that they are more familiar with the communities' needs than the larger national organizations. ³⁹ However, speaking in favour of a grassroots approach, Chief Lance Roulette of the Sandy Bay First Nation stated that even the regional organizations "don't speak to the true intent of a community needs-based model" ⁴⁰ and that "No one can ever speak for anybody's community, other than the community itself."

³⁶ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0910 (Mr. Norm Odjick, Director General, Algonquin Anishinabeg Nation Tribal Council).

³⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0900 (Mr. Norm Odjick).

³⁸ Ibid.

³⁹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 4 April 2019, 1005 (Grand Chief Arlen Dumas).

⁴⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 11 April 2019, 0940 (Chief Lance Roulette, Sandy Bay First Nation).

⁴¹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 11 April 2019, 0950 (Chief Lance Roulette).

For his part, Keith Matthew, President and Director at the Council for the Advancement of Native Development Officers, explained how his organization and the economic development officers (EDOs) it certifies "work with the leadership to create a vision for the community and then use [their] skills in strategic and business planning, lands management and more, to create an economy that will support that very vision." Mr. Matthew recommended establishing regional EDO positions to serve smaller communities, improving access to capital and establishing partnerships with municipalities to create joint economic development strategies. 43

Employment Training

As part of institutional and nation rebuilding, communities must be able to train their staff. Norm Martin, Clinical Educator at St.Amant, explained that "There really is no shortage of dedicated and devoted people in the communities." His colleague, Ben Adaman, added that "Capacity building efforts targeting front-line staff have the potential to result in an enduring impact in the communities" as it contributes to the retention of talents. He continued: "Community members who receive training are often rooted in their communities, and many may choose to stay there over the long term."

Additionally, witnesses expressed a desire to see more training opportunities being offered on site, in the communities, as opposed to having people leave their homes and families to access these. ⁴⁷ Virginia Lukianchuk, Assistant Director of Health at the Sandy Bay First Nation, stated:

We prefer, as a community, to train our own people and to have them providing the services, because... you have more heart when you're doing your job if you're from that community and with your people. You have that ability to have that conversation in

⁴² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0950 (Mr. Keith Matthew, President and Director, Southern British Columbia, Council for the Advancement of Native Development Officers).

⁴³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0955 (Mr. Keith Matthew).

⁴⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 21 February 2019, 1030 (Mr. Norm Martin, Clinical Educator, St.Amant).

⁴⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 21 February 2019, 1030 (Mr. Ben Adaman, Senior Manager, Clinical Services, St.Amant).

⁴⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 19 March 2019, 0915 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty); <u>Evidence</u>, 11 April 2019, 0945; 1030 (Ms. Virginia Lukianchuk, Assistant Director of Health, Sandy Bay First Nation).



your own language instead of depending on somebody else to come in and provide that service. 48

Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC) administers two complementary programs aimed at reducing barriers faced by Indigenous peoples in finding and keeping employment: the Indigenous Skills and Employment Training (ISET) program and the Skills and Partnership Fund (SPF).⁴⁹ For First Nations specifically, ESDC has been funding 66 on and off-reserve service delivery organizations under ISET, providing over \$188 million annually. According to department officials, this allowed "around 319,000 First Nations clients [to receive] employment and skills training," noting that "following their participation, almost 101,000 were employed and 4,500 returned to school." Through the SPF, an initiative receiving \$50 million annually, services were delivered to 32,000 people, half of which managed to find employment and approximately 2,000 others returned to school. 151

The implementation of the ISET program follows a series of engagements in 2016-2017, during which ESDC "heard that organizations wanted longer-term agreements with greater flexibility to provide wraparound supports." According to officials, stakeholders had also criticized the fact that program funding had not kept pace with demographic and economic changes, and that oversight focused on tracking expenditures rather than results. In a 2018 report, the two programs were criticized by the OAG who emphasized that

"Capacity building efforts targeting front-line staff have the potential to result in an enduring impact in the communities."

"the department could not demonstrate that these programs increased the number of Indigenous people who got jobs and stayed employed." ⁵⁴

⁴⁸ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 11 April 2019, 1010 (Ms. Virginia Lukianchuk).

⁴⁹ In April 2019, the ISET program replaced the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy (ASETS).

⁵⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 7 February 2019, 0845 (Ms. Karen Campbell, Acting Director General, Program Policy Division, Indigenous Affairs Directorate, Department of Employment and Social Development).

⁵¹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 7 February 2019, 0855 (Mr. Jean-Pierre Gauthier, Director General, Indigenous Programs Directorate, Department of Employment and Social Development).

⁵² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 7 February 2019, 0845 (Ms. Karen Campbell).

⁵³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 7 February 2019, 0925 (Ms. Karen Campbell).

⁵⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0920 (Mr. Jerome Berthelette).

Education

Education—improving outcomes and graduation rates specifically—was also identified as central to building capacity in the communities. The Committee heard the promising story of the Whitecap Dakota First Nation, which has an "alliance agreement on education" with one of Saskatchewan's largest school boards: "It has been a really good partnership... It ended education disparity for us." ⁵⁵ Chief Bear said that the schools are bilingual (English and Dakota) and that Elders are present every day. ⁵⁶ Chief Bear, noting that being recognized by Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) as a regional education authority could unlock additional funding, advocated for the agreement with Saskatoon Public Schools to be recognized as such. ⁵⁷

a) Funding

The Whitecap Dakota First Nation has taken advantage of its proximity to a major urban centre. Other First Nations, due to their remoteness and geographic isolation, do not necessarily have the opportunity to create similar partnerships with neighbouring communities and municipalities. Graduation rates remain significantly lower in First Nations, compared with the rest of the country, and the education infrastructure is often inadequate. Chief Delbert Wapass of the Thunderchild First Nation and George Lafond, a strategic development advisor, also stated that First Nations education is underfunded. Mr. Lafond added that consistent and predictable funding is required: "Unfortunately right now most First Nations schools operate... on a year-to-year funding arrangement. I think in order for us to have proper planning and proper predictability, you need to have long-term funding which is guaranteed, and that way you can plan further longer."

In that regard, Mr. Lafond said that the new federal approach for First Nations education was a welcome change.⁶⁰ Departmental officials explained that, starting in 2019-2020, ISC will be providing First Nations with "base funding that is provincially comparable, so

⁵⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, Evidence, 9 April 2019, 0845 (Chief Darcy M. Bear).

⁵⁶ Ibid.

⁵⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, Evidence, 9 April 2019, 0920; 0940 (Chief Darcy M. Bear).

⁵⁸ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 19 March 2019, 1005 (Chief Delbert Wapass, Advisor, Thunderchild First Nation); 1005 (Mr. George E. Lafond, Strategic Development Advisor, As an individual).

⁵⁹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 1020 (Mr. George E. Lafond).

⁶⁰ Ibid.



that we are providing the same base resources that align with teacher salary rates and other base costs."61

b) Challenges and Promising Initiatives

Mr. Odjick suggested investing in distance learning programs for the communities. ⁶² However, distance learning might not be an adequate solution everywhere. Shirley Fontaine, Associate Executive Director at the Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre, pointed out that "connectivity is an issue for many of our northern and isolated First Nations." ⁶³ For her part, Kelly Shopland, Director of Aboriginal Education at North Island College, explained that her organization's approach has been to offer "offcampus, in-community programming, which brings faculty to students where they live." ⁶⁴ According to Ms. Shopland:

This in-community programming model has many benefits for students, including allowing learners to be close to their family, their culture and their supports. It provides the opportunity to learn from the land in a relevant and real environment. It creates an opportunity to complete practicums, placement and work experience within their communities, and to begin to build those relationships for future employment. As well, the inclusion of local elders and community members as faculty members provides the opportunity for mentorship and establishing the traditional roles of community in training and capacity-building.⁶⁵

However, Ms. Shopland stressed that "these types of programs cannot be rushed" and that funding should be longer-term and more flexible. 66 Mr. Merasty also talked about the importance of offering education opportunities in the communities. 67 Likewise, Janet Gordon, of the Sioux Lookout First Nations Health Authority (SLFNHA), explained that sending people away for education has its own problems: "a lot of our communities have to send their kids out for high school, which sometimes may not be the most appropriate way of educating the young people... A lot of them end up dropping out

⁶¹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0935 (Mr. Adrian Walraven).

⁶² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0900 (Mr. Norm Odjick).

⁶³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0925 (Ms. Shirley Fontaine, Associate Executive Director, Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre).

⁶⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 1000 (Ms. Kelly Shopland, Director of Aboriginal Education, North Island College).

⁶⁵ Ibid.

⁶⁶ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 1005 (Ms. Kelly Shopland).

⁶⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2109, 0900 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty).

because they're home sick or the situation they're in is not good for them."⁶⁸ Her colleague, James Morris, added that, "if people succeed in becoming professionals, they have a tendency to stay there [out of the community] rather than going back home to work there."⁶⁹ As such, educating people in their communities would make it more likely that talents will be retained.

Melanie Debassige, Executive Director of the Ontario First Nations Technical Services Corporation, and Chief Roulette noted that today's students are tomorrow's service providers: "They're going to be building water treatment centres, they're going to be building infrastructure: schools, roads. They're going to be providing oversight on all of those projects." Yet, Ms. Debassige feels that First Nations lack continued support throughout the education process and might not always have access to the same opportunities as other Canadian students. Peter Istvanffy, Consultant at Headwater Learning Solutions, also noted that funding does not always allow for the procurement of technological tools such as laptops and tablets, something he sees "as critical for participation in the 21st century."

The Committee also heard that it is a challenge to attract and retain talents in technical fields, such as science, technology, engineering and maths (STEM). Laurie Swami, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Nuclear Waste Management Organization (NWMO), where 7% of the workforce identify as First Nation or Métis, explained that there is a need to attract people to the STEM fields prior to university: "We need to start that in high school... to make sure that we're providing the educational processes they need to succeed in the business that I'm in, which is highly technical." The NWMO has been offering opportunities to youth from the communities with which it works "to experience some of the science classes at a university level." According to Ms. Swami,

⁶⁸ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 1010 (Ms. Janet Gordon, Chief Operating Officer, Sioux Lookout First Nations Health Authority).

⁶⁹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 9 April 2019, 1010 (Mr. James Morris, Executive Director, Sioux Lookout First Nations Health Authority).

⁷⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, <u>Evidence</u>, 19 March 2019, 0920 (Ms. Melanie Debassige, Executive Director, Ontario First Nations Technical Services Corporation); <u>Evidence</u>, 11 April 2019, 0950 (Chief Lance Roulette).

⁷¹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0920 and 0930 (Ms. Melanie Debassige).

⁷² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 1025 (Mr. Peter Istvanffy, Consultant, Headwater Learning Solutions).

⁷³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 4 April 2019, 0930 (Ms. Laurie Swami, President and Chief Executive Officer, Nuclear Waste Management Organization).

⁷⁴ Ibid.



"you have to get the education into high school or earlier, so that people are ready to go into university and college and be available for these jobs." ⁷⁵

c) Indigenous Languages

Ms. Shopland and Ms. Fontaine both talked about the importance of Indigenous languages with respect to education. Ms. Fontaine explained that language plays a role "in terms of building identity for our students, healing our communities and our families and creating a better future for our people." Ms. Shopland added: "language helps remove barriers for students, including those silent speakers, and allows them to start an educational journey in a culturally safe way." Chief Bear explained that Whitecap Dakota students receive federal funding for language and culture but was concerned that this funding does not follow them when they inevitably have to go to school outside the reserve.

d) Federal Programming

ISC is the federal department responsible for education programming. Officials explained that the department is working collaboratively with First Nations to develop "regionally tailored and locally driven" solutions. However, in the same 2018 report in which it had criticized ESDC's skills and employment training programming, the OAG concluded that "the use of data [by ISC] to improve education programs and thereby improve socioeconomic well-being was inadequate." The report also found that ISC "overstated First Nations' high school graduation rates by up to 29 percentage points."

Health Care

Developing and enhancing capacity with regards to health care was another key issue. The SLFNHA stated that "Health funding does not meet the community needs." Some

75	Ibid.
76	INAN, 42 nd Parliament, 1 st Session, <i>Evidence</i> , 26 February 2019, 0940 (Ms. Shirley Fontaine).
77	INAN, 42 nd Parliament, 1 st Session, <i>Evidence</i> , 26 February 2019, 1005 (Ms. Kelly Shopland).
78	INAN, 42 nd Parliament, 1 st Session, <i>Evidence</i> , 9 April 2019, 0905 (Chief Darcy M. Bear).
79	INAN, 42 nd Parliament, 1 st Session, <i>Evidence</i> , 19 February 2019, 0930 (Mr. Adrian Walraven).
80	INAN, 42 nd Parliament, 1 st Session, <i>Evidence</i> , 19 February 2019, 0920 (Mr. Jerome Berthelette).
81	Ibid.
82	Document submitted by the Sioux Lookout First Nations Health Authority, 9 April 2019.

First Nations communities have limited capacities in this area, yet are called upon to deal with significant challenges, such as a suicide crisis that has been ongoing for decades as well as opioid addictions.⁸³ Again, with respect to health and health care, witnesses emphasized the importance of community-driven solutions. For instance, Ms. Gordon of the SLFNHA stated that "a home-grown strategy is what would support community needs" with respect to health.⁸⁴

Her colleague, Mr. Morris, also explained that "we need to find cheaper and more consistent ways of providing health care services to the people who live in the communities." Geographically isolated and/or remote communities such as those of the Sioux Lookout area do not have hospitals, pharmacies or children's mental health centres: "All they have are nursing stations and clinics that are staffed by outside professionals." According to the SLFNHA, building capacity at the community level would require:

- Proactively recruiting local young people in the health field;
- Ensuring professional development and continuing education opportunities to expand community-based workers' skills and knowledge during their career;
- Training community-based personnel to act as ancillary health care providers.⁸⁷

Ms. Gordon mentioned Alaska as an example of a jurisdiction with promising practices with respect to health care in Indigenous communities: "They don't have physicians or nurses living in their communities, but they have their own people who have been training, and it's pretty aggressive training. At the end of the training they end up having skills and knowledge to be able to provide that emergency care or primary care." 88

Federal health programming for First Nations living on reserve is administered by the First Nations and Inuit Health Branch (FNIHB), which works to support community-led

⁸³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 1005 and 1025 (Mr. James Morris).

⁸⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 0950 (Ms. Janet Gordon).

⁸⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 0945 (Mr. James Morris).

⁸⁶ Ibid.

Document submitted by the Sioux Lookout First Nations Health Authority, 9 April 2019.

⁸⁸ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 9 April 2019, 1020 (Ms. Janet Gordon).



health and wellness planning. ⁸⁹ FNIHB sees community-led planning as a way of building capacity while ensuring improved health outcomes. Departmental officials acknowledged that developing local plans "allows communities to exercise greater control and flexibility over their health programs and services while supporting local capacity development." ⁹⁰ They also explained that "This approach promotes culturally appropriate holistic and integrated planning to improve health outcomes" and that it "bring[s] services closer to home and support locally driven solutions." ⁹¹ According to officials, FNIHB has also been moving towards longer-term, flexible funding arrangements for health programming. ⁹²

Data Collection and Management and Connectivity

Data collection and management were also discussed during this study. Having access to the right data would allow First Nations communities to make informed and evidence-based planning decisions. According to Bonnie Healy of the First Nations Information Governance Centre, "A big part of it is making sure that we have the data available to First Nations so that they can set their priorities, and measure and evaluate their successes. A lot of the funding they receive does not include evaluation dollars and components." Having the right data is crucial to tracking program outcomes. In turn, tracking outcomes plays a vital role in any programming, as learning from past results is essential to planning for the future.

Ms. Healy continued: "When it comes to our treaty rights to self-determination, as data drives policy, we must assert our right to govern our data." Her colleague, Mindy Denny also said that building statistical capacity supports self-government. She noted that data

[H]elp to construct a holistic portrait of life in First Nation communities, including ready and able talent and capacity on reserve. By assessing education level, skills, training

⁸⁹ In 2017, the First Nations and Inuit Health Branch was transferred from Health Canada to Indigenous Services Canada.

⁹⁰ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0850 (Mr. Keith Conn).

⁹¹ Ibid.

⁹² Ibid.

⁹³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 21 February 2019, 1010 (Ms. Bonnie Healy, Chair of the Board of Directors, First Nations Information Governance Centre).

⁹⁴ Ibid.

⁹⁵ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 21 February 2019, 1015 (Ms. Mindy Denny, Treasurer, First Nations Information Governance Centre).

needs and employment readiness in the First Nations labour markets more generally, First Nations are able to identify strengths and gaps with respect to the on-reserve workforce as it pertains to essential services. ⁹⁶

However, First Nations are lacking the technical tools to perform duties with respect to data collection and management: "We really need to be resourced to be able to address the data gaps. The fact is that First Nations are living essentially in information poverty." Similarly, Mr. Grant stated that, of the "four pillars" of First Nations governance, "the one that's absolutely missing is records information management."

The lack of connectivity in many remote communities was also raised as a barrier to community capacity building and socio-economic development. This issue is linked to those of data collection, program evaluation and outcomes. For instance, Ms. Denny said that

We don't have the right connectivity, the right hardware, the right software or the right training available. We're unable to measure gaps from a perspective that it's a quality of life defined and self-determined by First Nations. We need an opportunity to develop human development indices as well as well-being indices that are [respectful] of [F]irst [N]ations and their idea of their place in this world... We really feel that in order for [F]irst [N]ations to take control of their own affairs and contribute to enhancing the quality of life of their members, this is necessary. 100

Dr. Ted Hewitt, President of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, explained that Budget 2018 committed \$3.8 million for his organization to find "new ways of doing research with [I]ndigenous communities" which includes "grow[ing] the capacity of those communities to conduct research and to partner with the broader research communities." Dr. Hewitt spoke about the need to decolonize research, a process which entails Indigenous peoples gaining (or regaining) "control

"When it comes to our treaty rights to self-determination, as data drives policy, we must assert our right to govern our data."

Ibid.
 INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 21 February 2019, 1035 (Ms. Bonnie Healy).
 According to Howard Grant, the four pillars are senior management, financial management, human resources and records information management.
 INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 2 April 2019, 0855 (Mr. Howard Grant).
 INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 21 February 2019, 1015 (Ms. Mindy Denny).
 INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0900 (Dr. Ted Hewitt, President, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council).



over the data that is collected about them. ¹⁰² As noted above, witnesses stressed the importance for First Nations to reclaim ownership over their data. ¹⁰³

Talent Retention

First Nations also face significant challenges in attracting and retaining professionals. Witnesses explained that First Nations communities, tribal councils and other organizations struggle to attract and retain qualified workers in several fields such as education, health and band administration. It should be noted, however, that not all First Nations face the same challenges with respect to talent retention. For instance, Ms. Lukianchuk noted that the Sandy Bay First Nation successfully retains its teachers and nurses.¹⁰⁴

Similarly, from 2013-2014 to 2017-2018, ISC reported that "there has been a net gain in [kindergarten to grade 12] (K-12) teachers (certified and non-certified) on-reserve." (see Table 1). However, the Department also noted that "79.4% of [K-12] teachers aged 25 to 64, and working on First Nations reserves, had at least a bachelor degree as their highest level of education, compared to 94.3% of their counterparts working off-reserve."

¹⁰² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 February 2019, 0905 (Dr. Ted Hewitt).

¹⁰³ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 21 February 2019, 1010 (Ms. Bonnie Healy).

¹⁰⁴ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 11 April 2019, 1005 (Ms. Virginia Lukianchuk).

Written response submitted by the Department of Indigenous Services Canada on 4 June 2019.

¹⁰⁶ Ibid.

Table 1—Evolution of the Number of K-12 Teachers On-Reserve, By School Year

School Year	Number of Teachers	Net Gain of Teachers	Evolution of the Number of Teachers (%)
2013-2014	4,012	120	3
2014-2015	4,276	264	6,4
2015-2016	4,259	-17	-0,4
2016-2017	4,291	32	0,7
2017-2018	4,440	149	3,4

Source: Written response submitted by the Department of Indigenous Services Canada, 4 June 2019.

Note: The term "teachers" is not defined and no data validation has been perfored.

The lack of stable and predictable funding was identified as one of the main barriers to talent retention. ¹⁰⁷ Witnesses stated that it is difficult to attract and retain workers when your financial resources do not compare with off-reserve employers. ¹⁰⁸ Witnesses also outlined other exacerbating factors—closely linked to financial resources—making it harder for First Nations to recruit and retain teachers, doctors, land managers, planners, administrators and other professionals in their communities, including:

- the lack of proper housing and infrastructure to accommodate staff on reserves;
- salaries and benefits that are not competitive with what is offered off reserves;
- the relative remoteness and isolation of many First Nations communities;
- the lack of proper work-life balance combined with unrealistic expectations about the workload;
- the high cost of living and lack of job security; and

¹⁰⁷ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, Evidence, 19 March 2019, 0850 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty).

¹⁰⁸ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0935 (Mr. Norm Odjick); *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 0850 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty), 0855 (Mr. Albert Marshall Jr.).



the difficulty in accessing training opportunities close to the communities. 109

In recruiting and retaining health care professionals in remote communities, Dr. Roger Strasser of the Northern Ontario School of Medicine also stressed the importance of being "supportive with continuous professional development and training," as this would contribute to retaining talents. 110 For her part, Ms. Gordon noted that the high turnover rate of health care professionals "affects the continuity of care... in terms of the level of knowledge that people might gain as if they would stay longer in the community."111 In the education field, Lorne Keeper, Executive Director of Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre, explained that it is more challenging for standalone institutions to attract and retain teachers: "We always talk about the power of the collective, and that's what we stress in the mandate of our resource centre. We want communities to work together rather than work alone."112

¹⁰⁹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, Evidence, 19 February 2019, 0925 (Mr. Keith Conn, Acting Deputy Minister, First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Department of Indigenous Services Canada), 0930 (Mr. Adrian Walraven, Acting Director General, Education, Education and Social Development Programs and Partnerships Sector, Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development); Evidence, 26 February 2019, 0855 and 0900 (Mr. Norm Odjick), 0850 (Ms. Shirley Fontaine); Evidence, 19 March 2019, 0850 and 0900 (Mr. Theodore Johnny Merasty); Evidence, 2 April 2019, 0910 (Mr. Howard Grant).

INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 19 March 2019, 1000 (Dr. Roger Strasser). 110

¹¹¹ INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, Evidence, 9 April 2019, 1000 (Ms. Janet Gordon).

¹¹² INAN, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session, *Evidence*, 26 February 2019, 0915 (Mr. Lorne Keeper, Executive Director, Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre).

APPENDIX A LIST OF WITNESSES

The following table lists the witnesses who appeared before the Committee at its meetings related to this report. Transcripts of all public meetings related to this report are available on the Committee's <u>webpage for this study</u>.

Organizations and Individuals	Date	Meeting
Department of Employment and Social Development	2019/02/07	136
Karen Campbell, Acting Director General Program Policy Division, Indigenous Affairs Directorate		
Jean-Pierre Gauthier, Director General Indigenous Programs Directorate		
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development	2019/02/19	137
Lynne Newman, Director General Fiscal Arrangements, Chief Finances, Results and Delivery Officer Sector		
Adrian Walraven, Acting Director General Education, Education and Social Development Programs and Partnerships Sector		
Department of Indigenous Services Canada	2019/02/19	137
Keith Conn, Acting Assistant Deputy Minister First Nations and Inuit Health Branch		
Claudia Ferland, Director General Regional Infrastructure Branch, Regional Operations Sector		
Department of Natural Resources	2019/02/19	137
Mary-Luisa Kapelus, Acting Assistant Deputy Minister Indigenous Affairs and Reconciliation		
John Kozij, Director General Trade, Economics and Industry Branch, Canadian Forest Service		

Organizations and Individuals	Date	Meeting
Office of the Auditor General	2019/02/19	137
Jerome Berthelette, Assistant Auditor General Performance Audit		
Dawn Campbell, Principal Performance Audit		
Glenn Wheeler, Principal Performance Audit		
Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council	2019/02/19	137
Ursula Gobel, Associate Vice-President Future Challenges		
Ted Hewitt, President		
First Nations Health and Social Secretariat of Manitoba	2019/02/21	138
Louis Harper, Senior Legal Counsel		
Chief Sheldon Kent, Chairperson		
Dr. Barry Lavallee, Medical Advisor		
Leona Star, Director of Research		
First Nations Information Governance Centre	2019/02/21	138
Mindy Denny, Treasurer		
Bonnie Healy, Chair of Board of Directors		
St.Amant	2019/02/21	138
Ben Adaman, Senior Manager Clinical Services		
Norm Martin, Clinical Educator		
Algonquin Anishinabeg Nation Tribal Council	2019/02/26	139
Norm Odjick, Director General		
Council for the Advancement of Native Development Officers	2019/02/26	139
Keith Matthew, President and Director Southern British Columbia		
Raymond Wanuch, Executive Director		
First Nations Land Management Resource Centre	2019/02/26	139
Daniel Millette, Director Planning and Readiness		

Organizations and Individuals	Date	Meeting
Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre	2019/02/26	139
Shirley Fontaine, Associate Executive Director		
Lorne Craig Keeper, Executive Director		
Donald Shackel, Assistant Director		
North Island College	2019/02/26	139
Kelly Shopland, Director of Aboriginal Education		
Alderhill Planning Inc.	2019/03/19	141
Jessie Hemphill, Partner and Senior Planner		
As an individual	2019/03/19	141
George E. Lafond, Strategic Development Advisor		
Headwater Learning Solutions	2019/03/19	141
Peter Istvanffy, Consultant		
National Aboriginal Lands Managers Association	2019/03/19	141
Albert Marshall Jr., Director		
Theodore Johnny Merasty, Director		
Northern Ontario School of Medicine	2019/03/19	141
Catherine Cervin, Vice Dean Academic		
Roger Strasser, Dean and Chief Executive Officer		
Sarita Verma, Incoming Dean and Chief Executive Officer		
Ontario First Nations Technical Services Corporation	2019/03/19	141
Melanie Debassige, Executive Director		
Thunderchild First Nation	2019/03/19	141
Delbert Wapass, Advisor		
First Nations Summit Society	2019/04/02	142
Howard Grant, Executive Director		
Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs	2019/04/04	143
Grand Chief Arlen Dumas		

Organizations and Individuals	Date	Meeting
Nuclear Waste Management Organization	2019/04/04	143
Véronique Dault, Director Government and External Relations		
Laurie Swami, President and Chief Executive Officer		
Bob Watts, Vice-President Indigenous Relations		
Saskatoon Public Schools	2019/04/09	144
Ray Morrison, Chair of the Board of Trustees		
Sioux Lookout First Nations Health Authority	2019/04/09	144
Janet Gordon, Chief Operating Officer		
James Morris, Executive Director		
Whitecap Dakota First Nation	2019/04/09	144
Chief Darcy M. Bear		
Sandy Bay First Nation	2019/04/11	145
Virginia Lukianchuk, Assistant Director of Health		
Chief Lance Roulette		

APPENDIX B LIST OF BRIEFS

The following is an alphabetical list of organizations and individuals who submitted briefs to the Committee related to this report. For more information, please consult the Committee's webpage for this study.

Anishinabek Solutrean Metis Indigenous Nation Northern Ontario School of Medicine Pallium Canada St.Amant

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

A copy of the relevant *Minutes of Proceedings* (Meetings Nos. 136 to 139, 141 to 145 and 156) is tabled.

Respectfully submitted,

Hon. MaryAnn Mihychuk, P.C., M.P. Chair